IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE J.G., a Person Coming Under)
the Juvenile Court Law.)
_____)
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF)
CALIFORNIA,)
_____)
Plaintiff and Respondent,)
v.)
_____)
J.G.,)
_____)
Defendant and Appellant.)
_____)

No. S240397
Court of Appeal
No. C077056
Shasta County
Superior Court
No. JDSQ122933901

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUL 21 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

REDACTED VERSION
Redacts Material From Sealed Record

LAUREL THORPE
Executive Director
WILLIAM WHALEY
Staff Attorney
State Bar No. 293720
**CENTRAL CALIFORNIA
APPELLATE PROGRAM**
2150 River Plaza Drive, Suite 300
Sacramento, CA 95833
Telephone: (916) 441-3792

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. When a juvenile court terminates a minor’s probation in a deferred entry of judgment (DEJ) case and dismisses the Welfare and Institutions Code¹ section 602 petition, can it also convert unpaid restitution to a civil judgment? Or, does section 793, subdivision (c) prohibit such a conversion order because it states that following a dismissal “the arrest upon which the judgment was deferred shall be deemed never to have occurred . . .”?

II. When setting restitution as a condition of DEJ probation, which requires the juvenile court take into account a minor’s ability to pay, does a juvenile court err by:

¹ All further non-designated statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise specified.

- (a) treating a minor's federal Supplemental Security Income (SSI) benefits or his father's Social Security Disability (SSD) benefits as income for ability to pay purposes?
- (b) failing to reduce restitution to an amount the minor can repay during the deferral period or finding that a minor had the ability to pay \$36,381 in restitution when his family survived below the federal poverty line solely on the minor's SSI benefits, his father's SSD benefits, and food stamps?
- (c) setting restitution above the \$20,000 cap set forth in section 742.16, absent evidence the minor engaged in more than one tort?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

² "CT" refers to the Clerk's Transcript filed in the Court of Appeal on August 25, 2014. "1RT" refers to the Reporter's Transcript of the proceedings held in the juvenile court on January 1, 2014 and July 9, 2014. "2RT" refers to the Reporter's Transcript of the proceedings held on January 17, 2013, November 7, 2013, November 14, 2013, and December 19, 2013. "RST" refers to the Reporter's Supplemental Transcript of the proceedings held on December 5, 2013.

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

The Court of Appeal disagreed with each of those contentions. (Slip. Op., at pp. 2, 9-17.) J.G. filed a petition for review, which this Court granted.

ARGUMENT

I. THE JUVENILE COURT LACKED JURISDICTION TO CONVERT UNPAID RESTITUTION TO A CIVIL JUDGMENT

[REDACTED]

Section 793 gives minors who complete DEJ very broad protection: it wipes their slate clean as if the underlying arrest had never occurred. J.G. was not afforded that broad protection. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]
[REDACTED]. The Court of Appeal disagreed and upheld the conversion order. It correctly identified the issue as one of statutory construction. But instead of applying section 793's unambiguous language, it found support for the conversion order in other sections, which permit conversion orders in different contexts. (See Slip Op., at pp. 10-12.) This Court should reverse.

The issue is one of first impression. While this Court has discussed how restitution operates in the DEJ context (*Luis M. v. Superior Court* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 300), it has not considered the particular interaction at issue in this case: whether unpaid restitution can be converted to a civil judgment when a minor completes DEJ. That issue presents a question of statutory construction, which this Court reviews de novo. (See *Coker v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.* (2016) 62 Cal.4th 667, 674.)

The first principle of statutory construction requires us to interpret the words of the statute themselves, giving them their ordinary meaning, and reading them in the context of the statute (or, here, the initiative) as a whole. If the language is unambiguous, there is no need for further construction. If, however, the language is susceptible of more than one reasonable meaning, we may consider the ballot summaries and arguments to determine how the voters understood the ballot measure and what they intended in enacting it. In construing constitutional and statutory provisions, whether enacted by the Legislature or by initiative, the intent of the enacting body is the paramount consideration.

(*People v. Gonzales* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 858, 868, internal citations and quotations omitted.)

The plain language of section 793 unambiguously prohibits a juvenile court from converting unpaid restitution to a civil judgment when a

minor completes DEJ. Section 793 provides,

If the minor has performed satisfactorily during the period in which deferred entry of judgment was granted, at the end of that period the charge or charges in the wardship petition shall be dismissed and the arrest upon which the judgment was deferred shall be deemed never to have occurred and any records in the possession of the juvenile court shall be sealed, except that the prosecuting attorney and the probation department of any county shall have access to these records after they are sealed for the limited purpose of determining whether a minor is eligible for deferred entry of judgment [in the future] pursuant to Section 790.

(§ 793, subd. (c).) If a court must deem an arrest never to have occurred and seal all the records, it cannot enter an order converting unpaid restitution to a civil judgment as those actions are mutually exclusive. Whether section 793 is considered in isolation, or in the context of the DEJ program as a whole, the conclusion remains the same: the drafters did not intend for juvenile courts to convert restitution to a civil judgment when a minor completes DEJ.

In essence, DEJ is available to first time offenders who have been charged with a felony offense that is not listed in section 707, subdivision (b). (§ 790, subd. (a).) DEJ begins with the minor admitting the allegations in the wardship petition. (§§ 790, 791.) But instead of being adjudged a ward, the minor is placed on DEJ probation for 12 months. (§ 794.) Section 794 lists the probation conditions that can be imposed. If the minor successfully completes DEJ probation, the petition will be dismissed pursuant to section 793. (§ 793, subd. (c).) If the minor does not successfully complete DEJ probation he can be adjudged a ward. (§ 793, subd. (a).)

Restitution “may” be imposed as a condition of DEJ probation. (§ 794.) However, section 794 does not provide guidelines for doing so. Instead, it provides “The minor may also be required to pay restitution to the victim or victims pursuant to the *provisions of this code.*” (Italics added.) Sections 730.6 and 742.16 are other provisions of the Welfare and Institutions Code dealing with restitution. Section 730.6 is the general restitution statute and section 742.16 is the restitution statute that deals specifically with vandalism.

Sections 730.6 and 742.16 were drafted with minors who have already been adjudged wards in mind. Both sections state they apply to minors who are “found to be a person described in Section 602.” (§§ 730.6, subd. (a), 742.16, subd. (a).) Minors who have been granted DEJ, however, have not been adjudged wards. Nevertheless, in *Luis M., supra*, 59 Cal.4th 300, this Court acknowledged that sections 730.6 and 742.16 apply, to some extent, in the DEJ probation context. There, a minor was placed on DEJ for nine acts of graffiti. (59 Cal.4th at pp. 303-304.) As a condition of DEJ probation, the juvenile court imposed restitution of \$3,881.88. (*Ibid.*) The evidence offered in support of that amount was based on the fact the minor committed nine acts of graffiti and the city’s average cost to abate an incident of graffiti was \$431.32. (*Id.* at p. 304.) This Court found that calculating restitution that way violated sections 730.6 and 742.16, which it observed apply in the DEJ context through the “other provisions of this code” language in section 794. However, this Court was not called upon in *Luis M.* to decide whether any unpaid restitution could be converted to a civil judgment when the minor completed DEJ.

It is not disputed that section 794 incorporates sections 730.6 and 742.16 for purposes of imposing restitution as a condition of DEJ probation.

Nor is it disputed that sections 730.6 and 742.16 contain provisions that allow unpaid restitution to be converted to a civil judgment. What is disputed is whether the conversion provisions in 730.6 and 742.16 can be applied when a minor completes DEJ notwithstanding section 793, which provides that a minor who completes DEJ is entitled to have his slate wiped clean.

Section 793 governs on the question of what happens when a minor completes DEJ. As set forth above, it states that the wardship petition must be dismissed, the arrest deemed never to have occurred, and all the records sealed. Those protections and converting unpaid restitution are mutually exclusive. For them to coexist there would need to be some type of exception to the arrest deeming and record sealing language. However, there is only one exception to those broad protections: the prosecutor and probation officer may inspect the sealed records for the limited purpose of determining whether a minor is eligible for a future grant of DEJ. (§ 793, subd. (c).) Listing that exception, but not another that allows unpaid restitution to be converted to a civil judgment, is strong indicator that unpaid restitution cannot be converted to a civil judgment. “The expression of some things in a statute necessarily means the exclusion of other things not expressed.” (*Gikas v Zolin* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 841, 852.)

The argument that section 794's oblique reference to “other provisions of this code” somehow incorporated a restitution conversion provision that provides an additional exception to section 793's broad protections is illogical. When the drafters wanted to allow unpaid restitution to survive the dismissal of the 602 petition, they know how to say so clearly.

Take, for example, section 786. Section 786 governs on the question of what happens when a minor completes formal probation or informal supervision pursuant to section 654.2. Like section 793, it states that the wardship petition must be dismissed, the arrest deemed never to have occurred, and all the records sealed. (§ 786, subds. (a) & (b).) However, it then lists a number of exceptions to those broad protections including one that expressly permits unpaid restitution to be converted to a civil judgment:

(1) This section does not prohibit a court from enforcing a civil judgment for an unfulfilled order of restitution ordered pursuant to Section 730.6. A minor is not relieved from the obligation to pay victim restitution, restitution fines, and court-ordered fines and fees because the minor's records are sealed.

(2) A victim or a local collection program may continue to enforce victim restitution orders, restitution fines, and court-ordered fines and fees after a record is sealed. The juvenile court shall have access to records sealed pursuant to this section for the limited purpose of enforcing a civil judgment or restitution order.

(§ 786, subd. (g).)

As a matter of statutory construction, the existence of an express exception in section 786 that allows unpaid restitution to be converted to a civil judgment is a strong indication that such an exception should not be read into section 793. (See *Milklosy v. Regents of University of California* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 876, 896 [“[W]hen the Legislature uses a critical word or phrase in one statute, the omission of that word or phrase in another statute dealing with the same general subject generally shows a different legislative intent.”]; *People v. Trevino* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 237, 242 [same].)

Section 786 did not always contain an exception that allowed unpaid restitution to be converted to a civil judgment when a minor completed probation or informal supervision. Its provisions used to mirror those set forth in section 793. However, in 2015, the Legislature amended section 786 to add the exception. (See Assembly Floor Analysis, Analysis of Assembly Bill No. 666 (2015-2016 Reg. Sess.), as amended September 4, 2015, p. 2 [stating that the amendment would “Provide that a court is not prohibited from enforcing a civil judgment for an unfulfilled order of restitution . . . because the minor’s records are sealed.”].)

Penal Code section 1203.4 is another example of a dismissal statute that is not as broad as section 793. It provides that dismissal releases the defendant from “all penalties and disabilities resulting from the offense of which he or she has been convicted.” In *People v. Gross* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 1313, 1315-1316, the court considered whether a dismissal pursuant to section 1203.4 relieved the defendant of his obligation to pay direct victim restitution. The court held that it did not because direct victim restitution “is not a penalty or disability.”

Section 793, unlike Penal Code section 1203.4, does not merely release a minor from all penalties or disabilities, but wipes the minor’s slate clean as if the arrest had never occurred. While restitution may survive a dismissal under Penal Code section 1203.4, it does not survive a dismissal under section 793. The arrest deemed never to have occurred and record sealing language in section 793 is a broader protection than releasing a defendant from penalties and disabilities.

Courts have interpreted protections similar to those found in section 793 very broadly. (See *B.W. v. Board of Medical Quality Assurance* (1985) 169 Cal.App.3d 219, 230 [barring administrative action taken against a

licensee based upon an arrest report when the licensee had completed diversion and the arrest was deemed never to have occurred]; *Parmett v. Superior Court* (1989) 212 Cal.App.3d 1261, 1268 [discovery barred in civil suit of facts related to arrest that was deemed never to have occurred].) If administrative action and discovery are prohibited by such language, a civil judgment should be too.

In 2000, the voters added the juvenile DEJ program via Proposition 21. The uncodified findings and declarations make clear that successful completion of DEJ was intended to result in “expungement.”

Juvenile court resources are spent disproportionately on violent offenders with little chance to be rehabilitated. If California is going to avoid the predicted wave of juvenile crime in the next decade, greater resources, attention, and accountability must be focused on less serious offenders, such as burglars, car thieves, and first time non-violent felons who have potential for rehabilitation. This act must form part of a comprehensive juvenile justice reform package which incorporates major commitments to already commenced ‘at-risk’ youth early intervention programs and expanded informal juvenile court alternatives for low-level offenders. These efforts, which emphasize rehabilitative protocols over incarceration, must be expanded as well under the provisions of this act, which requires first time, non-violent juvenile felons to appear in court, admit guilt for their offenses, and be held accountable, but also be given a non-custodial opportunity to demonstrate through good conduct and compliance with a court-monitored treatment and supervision program that the record of the juvenile's offense should justly be expunged.

(Voter Information Guide, Primary Elec. (Mar. 7, 2000) text of Prop. 21, § 2, subd. (j), p. 119.)

The extent of expungement varies from context to context. Some expungement statutes, like section 786 and Penal Code section 1203.4,

specifically allow unpaid restitution to be converted to a civil judgment. Section 793 does not. The voters intended the DEJ program to be a “carrot-and-stick” approach to juvenile crime. (See *In re Spencer S.* (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 1315, 1327-1328.) Reading section 793 to authorize conversion of unpaid restitution to a civil judgment makes the carrot of expungement less rewarding than was intended. The Court of Appeal below reached a contrary conclusion by ignoring the differences between section 793 and the statutes governing expungement in other contexts.

G.C. v. Superior Court (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 371, 378, recognized that restitution does not survive the dismissal of a section 602 petition in the DEJ context and emphasized the importance of discretion in setting a realistic restitution amount which the minor can satisfy during the deferral period. That interpretation harmonizes all the relevant provisions. It gives full effect to section 793's broad protections while allowing the restitution conversion provisions in 730.6, 742.16, and 786 to continue to operate within their respective spheres (to adjudged minors and minors who complete formal probation or informal supervision). “A court must, where reasonably possible, harmonize statutes, reconcile seeming inconsistencies in them, and construe them to give force and effect to all of their provisions.” (*State Dept. Of Public Health v. Superior Court* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 940, 955-956.) “[T]he requirement that courts harmonize potentially inconsistent statutes when possible is not a license to redraft the statutes to strike a compromise that the Legislature did not reach.” (*Id.* at p. 956.)

The Court of Appeal in the present case essentially redrafted section 793 to contain an exception that allows unpaid restitution to be converted to a civil judgment. That strikes a compromise the drafters did not reach. This Court is respectfully urged to reverse the conversion order.

II. THE JUVENILE COURT ERRED BY [REDACTED]

A. *The juvenile court violated the federal anti-alienation provisions* [REDACTED]

Federal law contains anti-alienation provisions that protect SSI and SSD benefits from garnishment, levy, attachment, or other legal process. (42 U.S.C. §§ 407(a), 1383(d)(1).) Notwithstanding the anti-alienation provisions, the juvenile court [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] The Court of Appeal affirmed, following *Kays v. State* (Ind. 2012) 963 N.E.2d 507, 510. (Slip Op., at p. 14.) For the reasons set forth below, *Kays* should not be followed because it trivializes the Supremacy Clause and is antithetical to the federal benefit programs. This Court should reverse.

This issue presents a question of law, which this Court reviews de novo. (See *People v. Cromer* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 889, 894.)

Federal law protects SSD and SSI benefits from “execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal process” (42 U.S.C. §§ 407(a), 1383(d)(1).) If a state executes, levies, attaches, garnishes, or uses other legal process to reach SSD or SSI benefits, it violates those anti-alienation provisions and the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. (*Bennett v. Arkansas* (1988) 485 U.S. 395, 397-398.) The United States Supreme Court has struck down a number of direct attempts by states to attach SSI and SSD benefits. (See *id.*; *Philpott v. Essex County Welfare Bd.*

(1973) 409 U.S. 413.)

However, to date, the United States Supreme Court has not specifically decided whether a state court violates the anti-alienation provisions if it treats SSI and SSD benefits as income for purposes of assessing a defendant's ability to pay restitution. (See, e.g., *Bennett, supra*, 485 U.S. at pp. 397-398 [invalidating direct state attempt to attach Social Security benefits]; *Philpott, supra*, 409 U.S. at pp. 413-417 [same]; *Wash. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs. v. Guardianship Estate of Keffeler* (2003) 537 U.S. 371, 385 (*Keffeler*) [upholding state's use of foster children's Social Security benefits where state was acting as a representative payee].)

A number of state courts have considered the issue and are split on it. Most have held that doing so amounts to "other legal process" in violation of the anti-alienation statute. (See, e.g., *State v. Eaton* (Mont. 2004) 99 P.3d 661, 665-666; *City of Richland v. Wakefield* (Wash. 2016) 380 P.3d 459, 465-466) But at least one has reached the opposite conclusion. (See *Kays v. State, supra*, 963 N.E.2d 507, 510.)

The United States Supreme Court explored the meaning of the term "other legal process" in *Keffeler*. There, the State of Washington had been appointed by the Social Security Commissioner to act as representative payee for some foster children's Social Security benefits. (*Keffeler, supra*, 537 U.S. at pp. 375-379.) Washington, in turn, used those Social Security benefits to reimburse itself for expenditures it made for the foster children's care and maintenance. (*Ibid.*) The foster children sued the state arguing that its use of the benefits amounted to "other legal process" in violation of the anti-alienation provisions. (*Id.* at pp. 379-381.) The United States Supreme Court disagreed. (*Id.* at p. 392.)

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