COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

J.G.,
a Person Coming Under the Juvenile
Court,

v.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

J.G.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S240397



SUPREME COURT
FILED

NOV 13 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Third Appellate District, Case No. C077056
Shasta County Superior Court, Case No. JDSQ122933901
The Honorable Anthony Anderson, Judge
The Honorable Monique McKee, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

REDACTED VERSION
Redacts Material From Sealed Record

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
GERALD A. ENGLER
Chief Assistant Attorney General
MICHAEL P. FARRELL
Senior Assistant Attorney General

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

Finally, appellant notes that section 786 provides that a restitution order can be civilly enforced when a case is dismissed after a minor successfully completes "an informal program of supervision pursuant to Section 654.2," "probation under Section 725," or "a term of probation for any offense." (AOBM 16.) He argues that the lack of such language in section 793 "is a strong indication that such an exception should not be read into section 793." (AOBM 16.) Just the opposite is true, however. The provisions allowing for civil enforcement after dismissal in section 786 show, as set forth above, that the legislature intends broadly that restitution orders be civilly enforceable so that victims can obtain full restitution. Further, section 786 applies to any "person who has been alleged ... to be a ward of the juvenile court" and who "satisfactorily completes...a term of probation for any offense[.]" (§ 786, subd. (a).) This language appears to apply to a minor who completed DEJ probation (though its dismissal provisions would seem to be duplicative of those in section 793, subdivision (c)). Finally, the lack of such language in section 793 does not

lead to the necessary conclusion a restitution order cannot be enforced civilly after a case is dismissed upon successful completion of DEJ, as appellant suggests. (AOBM 16.)

II. THE JUVENILE COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN [REDACTED]

Title 42 United States Code section 407(a) provides that “[t]he right of any person to any future payment under this subchapter [Assignment of Social Security and Supplemental Security Benefits] shall not be transferable or assignable, at law or in equity, and none of the moneys paid or payable or rights existing under this subchapter shall be subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal process[.]”

Appellant claims that the juvenile court’s [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] Appellant’s claims to the contrary should be rejected.

A. A Juvenile Court May Consider Federal Benefits as Part of a Juvenile’s Overall Financial Situation Even Though Those Benefits May Not Be Used to Pay Restitution

Section 742.16, subdivision (a) provides that a minor shall be ordered to pay restitution “to the extent the court determines that the minor or the minor’s estate have the ability to do so[.]” The statute does not define what it means when it says “ability to do so,” but section 730.6, subdivision (d)(2), which deals with a minor’s ability to pay a restitution fine, states, “[t]he consideration of a minor’s ability to pay may include his or her

future earning capacity.” Sections 742.16, subdivision (d), and 730.7, providing for parental liability, state that, when considering a parent’s ability to pay, a court can take into consideration a families’ income, obligations, and future earning capacity. Other analogous statutes containing “ability to pay” language also define that term as including consideration of a defendant’s present financial position, her reasonably discernible future financial position, the likelihood she can obtain employment in the reasonably near future, and any other factor which may bear upon her financial capability. (E.g., Pen. Code, §§ 1203.1b, subd. (e) [ability to reimburse probation costs], 1203.1c, subd. (b) [ability to reimburse incarceration costs], 987.8, subd. (g)(2) [ability to reimburse attorney fees]; see *In re Brian S.* (1982) 130 Cal.App.3d 523, 532 [a court can consider future employment].) Additionally, a court can order a minor to work to earn money for “reparation.” (§ 730, subd. (b).)

It is important for a court to consider a minor’s complete financial picture—including the minor’s financial resources, expenses, and obligations—when determining the minor’s ability to pay restitution. (See SO 12-13, citing to *Kays v. State* (2012) 963 N.E.2d 507, 510-511.) SSI or SSD payments are undoubtedly a factor which may bear on a person’s financial capability, and, therefore, as the Indiana Supreme Court has held, “it is proper for a court to consider social security benefits in determining a defendant’s ability to pay restitution.” (*Kays, supra*, at p. 510; SO 13.)

In *Kays*, the defendant was convicted of misdemeanor battery and ordered to pay restitution. (*Kays v. State, supra*, 963 N.E.2d at pp. 508-509.) At sentencing, *Kays* objected to the \$1,496.15 restitution amount because her sole source of income was \$674 per month in SSD payments. (*Id.* at p. 509.) The trial court overruled the objection and imposed the full restitution amount. (*Ibid.*) The Indiana Court of Appeals reversed, finding that the trial court failed to inquire into *Kays*’ ability to pay. (*Ibid.*) In its

remand order, the Court of Appeals directed the trial court to ignore Kays' social security benefits when considering her ability to pay because, it concluded, considering such benefits would amount to an improper taking of social security benefits by "other legal process," something that is prohibited under the anti-alienation provisions of 42 U.S.C. § 407(a). (*Ibid.*)

The Indiana Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals' finding in this regard. (*Kays, supra*, 963 N.E.2d at p. 510.) It reasoned that "ignoring a defendant's social security income may paint a distorted picture of her ability to pay restitution. For example, a debt-free defendant who lives with a family member and receives room and board at no charge may very well have the ability to pay restitution even if her only income is from social security. This does not mean that the State could levy against that income to collect the restitution, but it does reflect an important part of the person's total financial picture that a trial court may consider in determining ability to pay." (*Id.* at pp. 510-511.)

Kays was correct in this regard. If a person's federal benefits could not be considered in determining their ability to pay restitution, it would create a distorted picture of their financial situation. Take, for example, a minor, minor A, who received \$500 in disability each month for living expenses. If minor A's benefits could not be considered in determining her ability to pay, it would appear she had negative income of \$500 each month. Contrast that with a different minor, minor B, who had the same living expenses but who did not receive benefits and instead had a job to pay her living expenses. If minor A's benefits could not be considered when determining her complete financial picture, it would appear that she was in a worse financial position at the end of each month (negative \$500) than minor B (\$0). In actuality, however, minor B is in a worse financial position each month because she already has a job and would have to find a second job to secure additional income to pay restitution whereas minor A

might be able to more easily find additional income to pay restitution. Further consider minor C whose parents provide for all her living expenses. From a practical standpoint, she is like minor A in that her living expenses are being provided for. Again, however, if minor A's benefits cannot not be considered, it appears she is in a worse financial position (negative \$500 each month) than minor C and, therefore, has an inferior ability to pay restitution instead of an equal one.

As the foregoing establishes, "ignoring a defendant's social security income may paint a distorted picture of his ability to pay restitution." (*Kays, supra*, 963 N.E.2d at p. 510.) Accordingly, a minor's federal benefits should be considered to accurately determine whether the minor has the ability to pay.

Appellant disagrees, arguing that that the mere consideration of federal benefits when determining ability to pay amounts to taking those benefits by "other legal process" because "in many cases...the defendant's only source of income is SSI and SSD benefits. There is no other source...from which restitution payments can be made." (AOBM 22.) This argument overlooks the fact that, among other things, a court can consider a minor's other sources of income and even future earning capacity, i.e., ability to obtain employment, when determining whether he or she has an ability to pay. (*In re Brian S., supra*, 130 Cal.App.3d 532; § 730, subd. (b); see § 730.6, subd. (m).) Consideration of SSI and SSD benefits to determine how much total financial support a minor has is not the same as requiring the minor to use those benefits to satisfy "legal process."

Appellant argues *Kays* is wrongly decided because the court there failed to address whether treating social security benefits as income for ability to pay purposes amounts to "other legal process." (AOBM 23.) This is not the case. The *Kays* court made clear that federal benefits could

only be *considered* when making the ability to pay determination and that a court could not order those benefits to be used to pay restitution. (*Kays, supra*, 963 N.E.2d at p. 510-511.) Under the reasoning of *Kays*, no federal benefits are being taken by any process.

As *Kays* noted, “[t]here is scant authority on the question of whether social security benefits ‘can be taken into account simply to determine an individual’s ability to pay a fine or restitution,’ and the case law that exists ‘does not appear to yield a clearcut answer’ to this question.” (*Kays, supra*, 963 N.E.2d at p. 510.) Nevertheless, while “not authoritative[,]” the court “found persuasive the decisions of other courts that have permitted consideration of income or other assets that cannot be levied against in assessing a defendant’s overall ability to pay fines or restitution.” (*Id.* at p. 511 [citing *United States v. Lampien* (7th Cir. 2001) 1 Fed.Appx. 528, 533, fn. 3, involving prospective OASDI benefits; *United States v. Smith* (4th Cir. 1995) 47 F.3d 681, 684, involving pension benefits; and *Gleave v. Graham* (W.D.N.Y. 1997) 954 F.Supp. 599, 610-611, involving veterans’ disability benefits].)¹⁰

[REDACTED]

Nor is appellant correct to the extent he argues that the trial court’s order in this case [REDACTED]

¹⁰ Appellant faults these cases for not being exactly on point. (AOBM 23-25.) However, as the *Kays* court stated, the cases are persuasive, not authoritative. In any event, appellant acknowledges that *United States v. Lampien, supra*, 1 Fed.Appx. 528 at pages 531-532 holds that social security benefits can be treated as income for restitution purposes (AOBM 23-24) and that *Gleave v. Graham, supra*, 954 F.Supp. 599 at pages 610-611 held that veteran’s benefits could be treated as income for ability to pay purposes without violating anti-alienation provisions similar to the ones here. (AOBM 24.)

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] *City of Richland v. Wakefield* (Wash. 2016) 380 P.3d 459 (*Wakefield*) and *In re S.M.* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 21 (*S.M.*), cases upon which appellant relies in support of his argument.

In *Wakefield*, the defendant was 27 years old, homeless, permanently disabled, indigent, and recovering from drug addiction. (*Wakefield, supra*, 380 P.3d at p. 461-462, 466.) She also suffered from bipolar disorder, attention deficit disorder, hyperactivity disorder, and posttraumatic stress disorder. (*Id.* at p. 461.) She had been receiving social security income since the age of 18 due to her inability to work. (*Ibid.*) At the time of the case, she received \$710 in social security payments each month and received \$170 in food stamp assistance from the state. (*Ibid.*) These were her only sources of income. (*Ibid.*)

Wakefield was ordered by the district court to pay \$15 per month towards discretionary legal financial obligations (LFOs) as a result of misdemeanor disorderly conduct and harassment convictions. (*Wakefield, supra*, 380 P.3d at p. 461.) At a fine review hearing, Wakefield said she was homeless and did not have enough money to pay her LFOs. (*Id.* at pp. 462.) She also presented testimony from an expert who said that the minimum amount a one-person household needed in order to meet the core

necessities of life in 2011 in Kennewick or Richland, Washington was \$1,492 per month. (*Ibid.*) In other words, Wakefield needed an additional \$782 per month to meet her basic needs. The district court ordered Wakefield to pay \$15 per month, but did not make a finding that she had the ability to do so and did not “mention or apply the [statutory] manifest hardship standard for remitting costs for indigent defendants.” (*Ibid.*)

The Washington Supreme Court reversed the \$15 per month order. (*Wakefield, supra*, 380 P.3d at p. 461.) It found the district court had not applied the correct “manifest hardship” standard under the relevant state statute, had failed to properly analyze the effect of Wakefield’s disabilities and homelessness on her ability to pay, and had made numerous factual errors. (*Id.* at pp. 464-466.) It also found that the district court’s order had violated the anti-attachment provisions of the Social Security Act. (*Id.* at pp. 465-466.) Specifically, the court held that since Wakefield had no other source of income, the district court’s order required her to pay LFOs from her social security disability payments resulted in a taking of those monies by “other legal process” in violation of federal law. (*Id.* at pp. 465-466.)

In re S.M. (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 21 (*S.M.*), the county requested that S.M.’s mother, S.P., pay for the cost of legal services incurred by her and S.M. in a juvenile court dependency proceeding. (*Id.* at p. 25.) S.P. received \$420 a month in Social Security benefits and \$430 in SSI benefits. (*Id.* at p. 26.) The juvenile court ordered her to make \$20 monthly payments. (*Id.* at pp. 26, 28.) On appeal, S.P. argued that the court erred in treating her SSI benefits as income. (*Id.* at pp. 26, 28.)

The Court of Appeal noted that unlike SSD and other social security benefits, SSI benefits are based on need, and are intended to assure a minimum level of income for the indigent, blind, aged, and disabled. (*S.M., supra*, 209 Cal.App.4th at pp. 28-29.) It noted that “California law is clear that SSI benefits are not considered income for purposes of determining

child support obligations” and concluded S.P.’s SSI benefits should not have been considered in determining her ability to pay the legal fees because treating SSI benefits as income would be inconsistent with the SSI purpose of assuring a minimum level of income for eligible individuals. (*Id.* at p. 29-30.)

Even assuming they were correctly decided, neither *Wakefield* nor *In re S.M.* show that the court’s order in this case [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]. *Wakefield* was 27 years old, permanently disabled, homeless, recovering from addiction, and living solely off her social security benefits which were less than half of what a person needed to meet their minimal living requirements.

Wakefield was an individual “who show[ed] no prospects of any change in their ability to pay[.]” (*Wakefield, supra*, 380 P.3d at p. 465.) Similarly, it does not appear that S.P.’s ability to pay was likely to change. On the other hand, [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]
[REDACTED]
[REDACTED]

Finally, appellant’s reliance on *State v. Eaton* (Mont. 2004) 99 P.3d 661 (*Eaton*) is equally unfounded. (AOBM 21, 25.) In that case the defendant was convicted of theft after stealing approximately \$110,000. (*Id.* at p. 664.) He was ordered to pay over \$114,000 in restitution and “make payments equal to 20 percent of his net income per month, from any source, including money received from his social security” or retirement benefits. (*Id.* at pp. 664, 666.) The Montana Supreme Court found that the order was “an improper attempt to subject Eaton’s social security benefits to ‘other legal process.’” (*Id.* at p. 666.) Here, however, [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]
[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY

[REDACTED]

Appellant claims the juvenile court abused its discretion when it

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

A.

[REDACTED]

Appellant claims that,

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (See *People v. Brasure* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1037, 1075 [failure to object to restitution amount forfeited any claim that the order was unwarranted by the evidence]; *Reilly v. Inquest Technology, Inc.* (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 536, 552 [under the doctrine of invited error, where a party, by his conduct, induces the commission of an error, he is estopped from asserting it as grounds for reversal].) [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

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